

Category: Clinical Guidance Statement Use of prostaglandins for Induction of Labour (C-Obs 22)

This statement has been updated in response to changes to the Therapeutic Good Administration (TGA) approval of an oral prostaglandin for use in Induction of Labour in Australia. The interim update of the statement provides guidance on induction of labour in term women, approved by the Women's Health Committee, RANZCOG Council and Board.

A list of the Women's Health Committee membership can be found in <u>Appendix A</u>.

Conflict of Interest disclosures were received from all members of this Committee (Appendix C)

Disclaimer: This information is intended to provide general advice to practitioners. This information should not be relied on as a substitute for proper assessment with respect to the particular circumstances of each case and the needs of any patient. This document reflects emerging clinical and scientific advances as of the date issued and is subject to change. The document has been prepared having regard to general circumstances (Appendix D)

First developed by RANZCOG: July 2006 Current version: March 2019 (interim update February 2023) Review due: March 2024

Objectives:	To provide advice on the use of prostaglandins for induction of labour.
Target audience:	This statement was developed primarily for use by registered health practitioners providing care to women ¹ in maternity care.
Background:	The statement was first published in July 2006 and reviewed in March 2019. The most recent interim update of this statement is to provide guidance on this new drug options approved by the TGA for use in induction of labour in term women. The statement draws on earlier evidence-based methodology (i.e. not GRADE methodology), for approval by the Women's Health Committee in March 2023 (Appendix C).
Funding:	The development and review of this statement was funded by RANZCOG.

¹ RANZCOG currently uses the term 'woman' in its documents to include all individuals needing obstetric and gynaecological healthcare, regardless of their gender identity. The College is firmly committed to inclusion of all individuals needing O&G care, as well as all its members providing care, regardless of their gender identity.



Contents

1.	Purpose and scope
2.	Plain language summary
3.	Executive summary
4.	Table of recommendations 3
5.	Introduction
	Rationale
	Indications 4
	Term Induction of labour
	FDIU 5
	PPROM
	Previous CS or uterine surgery
	Precautions
6.	Governance
7.	Legal and ethical implications
8.	Recommendations for future research 6
9.	References
10.	Links to relevant College Statements
11.	Links to relevant Clinical Guidelines
12.	Consumer resources
13.	Links to relevant ATMs and learning modules
Арре	endices
	Appendix A: Women's Health Committee Membership9
	Appendix C: Overview of the development and review process for this statement
	Appendix D: Full Disclaimer



2. Purpose and scope

The purpose of this statement is to provide guidance to registered health practitioners providing care to women¹ in maternity care. The statement draws on earlier evidence-based methodology (i.e., NHMRC methodology, that preceded the contemporary approaches to evidence synthesis using GRADE).

An interim partial update to the statement was undertaken in February 2023 to reflect recent additional options approved by the Australian Government Therapeutic Good Administration (TGA) for the Induction of Labour, bringing the advice in line with Aotearoa New Zealand Therapeutic indications for prostaglandins for the induction of labour in term or near-term women.

3. Plain language summary

Some pregnant women are advised to have their baby within a specific time frame, rather than waiting for labour to start naturally. Starting the birth process is called "induction of labour".

Different methods are available to start labour, depending on the reasons for the induction, the woman's previous births, and whether the woman's body has already begun to prepare for labour. Prostaglandins are a type of medication used when the cervix has not softened in preparation for birth. The use of prostaglandins to soften the cervix is often called "cervical ripening". It is usually followed by other methods to start labour, including artificial rupture of membranes ('breaking the waters') and oxytocin (a hormone) given by infusion (drip).

4. Executive summary

When cervical ripening is required, clinicians may choose between mechanical methods and prostaglandins. ^{1,2} The most appropriate method for cervical ripening is influenced by several factors, including patient characteristics, model of obstetric care and patient preference.

This document discusses the use of prostaglandins for the induction of labour in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand (New Zealand).

5. Table of recommendations

Recommendation 1	Grade
Prostaglandins (<i>dinoprostone</i> or low dose oral <i>misoprostol</i>) are appropriate methods of induction for many women with a term pregnancy when cervical ripening is required.	Grade A
Recommendation 2	Grade
All maternity units that use prostaglandins for cervical ripening prior to induction of labour should have protocols in place that define:	Consensus-based recommendation
 Dose regimen(s), including time between doses; Fetal surveillance recommendations; Duration and place of observation; Management of subsequent labour including oxytocin regimen; and Diagnosis and management of uterine hyperstimulation 	



Recommendation 3	Grade
 The chosen method of induction should take into account : Favourability of the cervix (cervical or Bishop score); Parity of the woman; Indication for induction of labour and likelihood of fetal maternal compromise with the onset of labour; The woman's preferences Previous uterine surgery and Other clinical circumstance 	Consensus-based recommendation

6. Introduction

Rationale

There are many different prostaglandin preparations and regimens for induction of labour. *Dinoprostone* has traditionally been the most common prostaglandin used in Australia. Misoprostol is an approved medicine in New Zealand and has been widely used. It is not approved for use in childbirth, however, it can be regarded and used as a supported indication.³

The Pharmaceutical Society of New Zealand states that, while it is recognised that cervical ripening, in the setting of IOL in childbirth has not been listed as a registered indication for misoprostol use in New Zealand, the use of misoprostol in childbirth has been widely researched internationally and endorsed by the WHO.

In Australia, the recent introduction of a TGA approved 25mcg oral (tablet) dose of misoprostol allows a wider range of options for clinicians and women.⁴

A number of metanalyses have compared the use of low dose oral misoprostol with mechanical methods of induction and vaginal *dinoprostone*. Each published review has a slightly different emphasis and conclusion, due to different methodology and inclusion criteria, but low dose oral misoprostol is consistently ranked as having similar or better outcomes, in terms of hyperstimulation, time to delivery, rate of vaginal delivery and costs, in comparisons to other methods.^{5,6,7,8}

Australian and international data suggests that women prefer oral medication to vaginal medication or mechanical means of induction in the setting of IOL, ^{9,10} however when given a choice of induction method, satisfaction is the same across methods.¹¹

Oral *misoprostol* is used in a more frequent dosing schedule than vaginal prostaglandins, and so may have implications for staffing. Oral administration may have the added benefit of fewer vaginal examinations.

Recommendation 1	Grade
Prostaglandins (<i>dinoprostone</i> or low dose oral <i>misoprostol</i>) are appropriate	Grade A
methods of induction for many women with a term pregnancy when	
cervical ripening is required.	

Indications

Term Induction of labour

Prostaglandins are appropriate for term induction of labour in scenarios in which vaginal delivery is planned. Where there is concern for fetal compromise, mechanical methods of cervical ripening may be preferred, because of the lower rate of uterine hyperstimulation documented in some reviews.



FDIU²

Misoprostol is widely used in Australia and New Zealand for management of midtrimester and third trimester fetal death in utero and termination of pregnancy. Dosing for this indication is commonly based on the International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics (<u>FIGO</u>) guidance and should take into account gestation, previous caesarean section and the use of *mifepristone*.^{12,13}

PPROM

Please refer to the RANZCOG statement: Term Prelabour Rupture of Membranes (Term PROM) (<u>C Obs</u> <u>36</u>).

Previous CS or uterine surgery

In women with a history of a prior caesarean section, prostaglandin induction of labour has been associated with rates of uterine rupture ranging from 1.4 to 2.45%.^{14,15} Please refer to the RANZCOG Statement: Birth after previous caesarean section (<u>C-Obs 38</u>). Prostaglandins are generally not recommended with previous caesarean section with a live fetus, but may be used in the setting of fetal death or termination of pregnancy.

For women with other uterine surgery, e.g., myomectomy, care should be individualised.

Precautions

Syntocinon (oxytocin) should not be used for 4-6 hours after the last prostaglandin dose. ¹⁶

7. Governance

All units offering prostaglandin induction of labour should inform women about the risks and benefits of this method of induction. Units should have protocols in place including dosing regimens³, appropriate fetal surveillance following prostaglandin administration and prevention and management of complications including uterine hyperstimulation.⁶

Recommendation 2	Grade
All maternity units that use prostaglandins for cervical ripening prior to induction of labour should have protocols in place that define:	Consensus-based recommendation
 Dose regimen(s), including time between doses; Fetal surveillance recommendations; 	
• Duration and place of observation;	
 Management of subsequent labour including oxytocin regimen; and 	
 Diagnosis and management of uterine hyperstimulation 	

² Fetal death in utero

³ Oral misoprostol 25 microgram in solution two-hourly is widely used internationally and is recommended by the World Health Organization (WHO).



Recommendation 3	Grade	
The chosen method	l of induction should take into account :	Consensus-based
• Favo	ourability of the cervix (cervical or Bishop score);	recommendation
• Pari	ty of the woman;	
• Indi	cation for induction of labour and likelihood of fetal	
mat	ernal compromise with the onset of labour;	
• The	woman's preferences	
• Prev	ious uterine surgery and	
• Oth	er clinical circumstance	

An analysis of cost-effectiveness was not undertaken.

8. Legal and ethical implications

9. Recommendations for future research

This Clinical Guidance Statement identified a gap in available, current and accessible research on the following topics:

Association between induction of labour is not associated and an increased risk of caesarean section.



10.References

- Weeks, A. D., Lightly, K., Mol, B. W., Frohlich, J., Pontefract, S., Williams, M. J., & Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists (2022). Evaluating misoprostol and mechanical methods for induction of labour: Scientific Impact Paper No. 68 April 2022. BJOG : an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology, 129(8), e61–e65. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.17136
- 2. ACOG. Practice Bulletin No. 107: Induction of labor, Obstet Gynecol. 2009 Aug(114 (2 Pt 1)):386-97
- Aotearoa New Zealand College of Midwives. Induction of Labour in Aotearoa New Zealand. A clinical practice guideline. 2019. [Available at: <u>https://www.midwife.org.nz/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2018/08/induction of labour in aotearoa new zealand -</u> <u>a clinical practice guideline.pdf</u>]
- 4. ANGUSTA (Norgine Pty Ltd) | Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) Accessed 22/01/2023
- Kerr RS, Kumar N, Williams MJ, Cuthbert A, Aflaifel N, Haas DM, Weeks AD. Low-dose oral misoprostol for induction of labour. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2021, Issue 6. Art. No.: CD014484. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD014484.
- 6. Alfirevic Z, Keeney E, Dowswell T, Welton NJ, Dias S, Jones LV, et al. Labour induction with prostaglandins: a systematic review and network meta-analysis, BMJ. 2015;350:h217
- Alfirevic, Z., Keeney, E., Dowswell, T., Welton, N. J., Medley, N., Dias, S., Jones, L. V., Gyte, G., & Caldwell, D. M. (2016). Which method is best for the induction of labour? A systematic review, network meta-analysis and cost-effectiveness analysis. Health technology assessment (Winchester, England), 20(65), 1–584. https://doi.org/10.3310/hta20650
- 8. de Vaan MDT, ten Eikelder MLG, Jozwiak M, Palmer KR, Davies, Tuck M, Bloemenkamp KW, et al. Mechanical methods for induction of labour. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;10:CD001233
- Mundle, S., Bracken, H., Khedikar, V., Mulik, J., Faragher, B., Easterling, T., Leigh, S., Granby, P., Haycox, A., Turner, M. A., Alfirevic, Z., Winikoff, B., & Weeks, A. D. (2017). Foley catheterisation versus oral misoprostol for induction of labour in hypertensive women in India (INFORM): a multicentre, open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet (London, England), 390(10095), 669–680. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31367-3
- Dodd, J. M., Crowther, C. A., & Robinson, J. S. (2006). Oral misoprostol for induction of labour at term: randomised controlled trial. BMJ (Clinical research ed.), 332(7540), 509–513. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.38729.513819.63
- Dupuis, N., Loussert, L., de Vries, P. L. M., Parant, O., Vayssière, C., & Guerby, P. (2022). Offering women a choice in induction of labour: a prospective cohort study. Archives of gynecology and obstetrics, 10.1007/s00404-022-06652-8. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00404-022-06652-8
- 12. Morris JL, Winikoff B, Dabash R, Weeks A, Faundes A, Gemzell, Danielsson K, et al. FIGO's updated recommendations for misoprostol used alone in gynecology and obstetrics. Int J Obstet Gynaecol. 2017;137:363–6.
- 13. International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics (FIGO). FIGO Dosage Chart ENGLISH.pdf (last updated 2023)
- 14. Landon MB, Hauth JC, Leveno KJ, Spong CY, Leindecker S, Varner MW, et al. Maternal and perinatal outcomes associated with a trial of labor after prior cesarean delivery, N Engl J Med. 2004;351(25):2581-9.
- 15. Lydon-Rochelle M, Holt VL, Easterling TR, Martin DP. Risk of uterine rupture during labor among women with a prior caesarean delivery, N Engl J Med. 2001;345(1):3-8
- 16. Australian Commission for Safety and Quality in Health Care: NPS Medicinewise. Consumer Medicine Information (online): Syntocinon. [Available at: <u>https://www.nps.org.au/medicine-finder/syntocinon-solution-for-injection#full-pi]</u>



11. Links to relevant College Statements

The use of misoprostol in obstetrics and gynaecology (<u>C-Obs 12</u>)

RANZCOG statement: Term Prelabour Rupture of Membranes (Term PROM) (<u>C Obs 36</u>).

RANZCOG Statement: Birth after previous caesarean section (C-Obs 38).

Evidence-based Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynaecology (C-Gen 15)

12. Links to relevant Clinical Guidelines

Aotearoa New Zealand College of Midwives. Induction of Labour in Aotearoa New Zealand - A clinical practice guideline (2019). Available at: <u>https://www.midwife.org.nz/wp-</u> content/uploads/2020/02/induction-of-labour-in-Aotearoa-New-Zealand-guideline-2019.pdf

13. Consumer resources

RANZCOG Patient Information Pamphlet: Induction of Labour. Available at: <u>https://ranzcog.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Induction-labour-pamphlet.pdf</u>

14. Links to relevant ATMs and learning modules

FRANZCOG Training Program Handbook. Basic Obstetric Skills Workshop (mandatory workshop). Available at: <u>https://ranzcog.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/FRANZCOG-Training-Program-Handbook_After-1st-December-2013.pdf</u>



Appendices

Appendix A: Women's Health Committee Membership

Name	Position on Committee	
Dr Scott White	Chair	
Dr Gillian Gibson	Deputy Chair, Gynaecology	
Dr Anna Clare	Deputy Chair, Obstetrics	
Associate Professor Amanda Henry	Member and Councillor	
Dr Samantha Scherman	Member and Councillor	
Dr Marilla Druitt	Member and Councillor	
Dr Frank O'Keeffe	Member and Councillor	
Dr Kasia Siwicki	Member and Councillor	
Dr Jessica Caudwell-Hall	Member and Councillor	
Dr Sue Belgrave	Member and Councillor	
	Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander	
Dr Marilyn Clarke	Representative	
Professor Kirsten Black	SRHSIG Chair	
Dr Nisha Khot	Member and SIMG Representative	
Dr Judith Gardiner	Diplomate Representative	
Dr Angela Brown	Midwifery Representative, Australia	
Ms Adrienne Priday	Midwifery Representative, New Zealand	
Ms Leigh Toomey	Community Representative	
Dr Rania Abdou	Trainee Representative	
Dr Philip Suisted	Māori Representative	
Prof Caroline De Costa	Co-opted member (ANZJOG member)	
Dr Steve Resnick	Co-opted member	

RANZCOG wishes to acknowledge the significant contribution of A/Professor Alexis Shub in conducting the interim update of this statement to provide guidance on new drug options approved by the Australian Government Therapeutic Good Administration (TGA) for use in induction of labour.



Appendix C: Overview of the development and review process for this statement

i. Declaration of interest process and management

Declaring interests is essential in order to prevent any potential conflict between the private interests of members, and their duties as part of RANZCOG Women's Health Committee or working groups.

A declaration of interest form specific to guidelines and statements (approved by the RANZCOG Board in September 2012). All members of the Statement Development Panels and Women's Health Committee were required to declare their relevant interests in writing on this form prior to participating in the review of this statement.

Members were required to update their information as soon as they become aware of any changes to their interests and there was also a standing agenda item at each meeting where declarations of interest were called for and recorded as part of the meeting minutes.

There were no significant real or perceived conflicts of interest that required management during the process of updating this statement.

ii. Steps in developing and updating this statement

This statement was developed in July 2006 by the RANZCOG Women's Health Committee, and an update published in March 2019. It was most recently reviewed by the Women's Health Committee in February 2023 in response to changes to TGA recommendations for new drug options approved for use in Induction of Labour. The Women's Health Committee carried out the following steps in reviewing this statement:

- Declarations of interest were sought from all members prior to reviewing this statement.
- An interim review of review of meta-analyses and systematic reviews was undertaken in lieu of a full review of all published evidence.
- At the February 2023 meeting of the Women's Health Committee, the existing recommendations tables were reviewed and updated (where appropriate) based on the available body of evidence and clinical expertise.

RANZCOG statements are developed according to the standards of the Australian National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC), Levels of Evidence and Grades of Recommendations for Developers of Guidelines. Where no robust evidence was available but there was sufficient consensus within the Women's Health Committee, consensus-based recommendations were developed or existing ones updated and are identifiable as such. Consensus-based recommendations were agreed to by the entire committee. Good Practice Notes are highlighted throughout and provide practical guidance to facilitate implementation. These were also developed through consensus of the entire committee.

Recommendation category		Description
Evidence-based	А	Body of evidence can be trusted to guide practice
	В	Body of evidence can be trusted to guide practice in most situations
	С	Body of evidence provides some support for recommendation(s) but care should be taken in its application
	D	The body of evidence is weak and the recommendation must be applied with caution
Consensus-based		Recommendation based on clinical opinion and expertise as insufficient evidence available
Good Practice Note		Practical advice and information based on clinical opinion and expertise



Appendix D: Full Disclaimer

Purpose

This Statement has been developed to provide general advice to practitioners about women's health issues concerning Induction of Labour and should not be relied on as a substitute for proper assessment with respect to the particular circumstances of each case and the needs of any person. It is the responsibility of each practitioner to have regard to the particular circumstances of each case. Clinical management should be responsive to the needs of the individual person and the particular circumstances of each case.

Quality of information

The information available in this statement is intended as a guide and provided for information purposes only. The information is based on the Australian/New Zealand context using the best available evidence and information at the time of preparation. While the Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists (RANZCOG) has endeavoured to ensure that information is accurate and current at the time of preparation, it takes no responsibility for matters arising from changed circumstances or information or material that may have become subsequently available. The use of this information is entirely at your own risk and responsibility.

For the avoidance of doubt, the materials were not developed for use by patients, and patients must seek medical advice in relation to any treatment. The material includes the views or recommendations of third parties and does not necessarily reflect the views of RANZCOG or indicate a commitment to a particular course of action.

Third-party sites

Any information linked in this statement is provided for the user's convenience and does not constitute an endorsement or a recommendation or indicate a commitment to a particular course of action of this information, material, or content unless specifically stated otherwise.

RANZCOG disclaims, to the maximum extent permitted by law any responsibility and all liability (including without limitation, liability in negligence) to you or any third party for inaccurate, out of context, incomplete or unavailable information contained on the third-party website, or for whether the information contained on those websites is suitable for your needs or the needs of any third party for all expenses, losses, damages and costs incurred.

Exclusion of liability

The College disclaims, to the maximum extent permitted by law, all responsibility and all liability (including without limitation, liability in negligence) to you or any third party for any loss or damage which may result from your or any third party's use of or reliance of this statement, including the materials within or referred to throughout this document being in any way inaccurate, out of context, incomplete or unavailable for all expenses, losses, damages, and costs incurred.

Exclusion of warranties

To the maximum extent permitted by law, RANZCOG makes no representation, endorsement or warranty of any kind, expressed or implied in relation to the materials within or referred to throughout this statement being in any way inaccurate, out of context, incomplete or unavailable for all expenses, losses, damages and costs incurred.

These terms and conditions will be constructed according to and are governed by the laws of Victoria, Australia.



Version	Date of Version	Pages revised / Brief Explanation of Revision
v1.0	July / 2006	The statement was first published, approved by the RANZCOG Women's Health Committee/Board.
V2.0	March / 2019	Routine review of the statement, approved by the RANZCOG Women's Health Committee/Board
V2.1	February / 2023	Interim update of the statement in response to new drug options approved by the TGA for use in induction of labour.

Policy Version:	Version 2.1
Policy Owner:	Women's Health Committee
Policy Approved by:	RANZCOG Council/Board
Review of Policy:	February / 2023